
REPORT TO CITY COUNCIL 
 
 
DATE: MARCH 11, 2020 
 
TO: HONORABLE MAYOR AND MEMBERS OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
 
FROM: GREG RAMIREZ, CITY MANAGER 
 
BY: RAMIRO ADEVA, COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR 
 DOUG HOOPER, PLANNING DIRECTOR 
 
SUBJECT: 2019 GENERAL PLAN HOUSING ELEMENT ANNUAL PROGRESS 

REPORT 
  
 
The purpose of this item is to provide the City Council with the 2019 General Plan Housing 
Element Annual Progress Report, and to authorize staff to forward the attached report to 
the California Department of Housing and Community Development (“HCD”), and to the 
Governor’s Office of Planning and Research (“OPR”).  
 
The City Council adopted the City’s General Plan 2035 in March 2010, and the 2013-
2021 Housing Element in August 2013. HCD certified the Housing Element in September 
2013. Government Code Section 65400 establishes the requirement that by April 1 of 
each year, each city and county file to HCD and OPR an Annual Progress Report (“APR”) 
on the implementation of the Housing Element for the previous calendar year. The APR 
is to identify new housing units for which building permits or certificates of occupancy 
were issued, each city’s progress toward meeting its Regional Housing Needs 
Assessment (“RHNA”) housing allocation, and each city’s progress toward completing the 
programs included in its Housing Element. State law also requires, prior to filing, the APR 
be reviewed by the legislative body (City Council) at a public meeting. 
 
The APRs prior to 2018 accounted solely for new housing units that were completed and 
issued occupancy. For the current 2019 reporting period, cities are now required to report 
the number of new, proposed housing units received; the number of building permits that 
were issued; and the number of housing units that were completed and issued 
occupancy. The attached APR for 2019 consists of seven (7) separate tables (A-F) and 
a summary page that are summarized as follows: 
 

Table A - The number of new, proposed housing units submitted are required to be 
reported in this table. In 2019, the City received 13 new residential development 
applications. Six (6) of the applications were for new single-family homes, and seven 
(7) of the applications were for new accessory dwelling units. Two (2) of the proposed 
single-family homes were submitted for reconstruction following their loss in Woolsey 
Fire. Of these 13 residential applications that were submitted in 2019, nine (9) were 
entitled in the same year. 
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Table A2 – Reported in this table are the number of housing units which were entitled 
in 2019; building permits that were issued in 2019, or were completed for occupancy 
in 2019. The APR reporting for years prior to 2018 accounted solely for housing units 
that were completed for occupancy. In 2019, entitlements were granted for three (3) 
new single-family homes (two of which were for reconstruction following their loss in 
the Woolsey Fire), and for four (4) new accessory dwelling units. Three (3) building 
permits were issued for single-family homes (one of which was for reconstruction 
following its loss in the Woolsey Fire), and (5) for new accessory dwelling units. Also, 
two (2) single-family homes, and four (4) accessory dwelling units, were completed 
for occupancy. All of these housing units are included in the “above moderate” 
household income level category. 
 
Table B - This table summarizes the City’s progress in meeting its Regional Housing 
Needs Assessment (“RHNA”) housing unit provisions in the current 2013-2021 
Housing Element cycle. The RHNA is a state-mandated process that determines the 
amount of future housing growth that cities and counties must plan for in their Housing 
Elements. This “fair share” allocation concept seeks to ensure that each jurisdiction 
accepts responsibility for the housing needs of not only its resident population, but 
also for the jurisdiction’s projected share of regional housing growth across all 
household income categories. The Southern California Association of Governments 
(“SCAG”) is the agency responsible for developing an allocation methodology to 
distribute the region’s assigned share of state need to cities and counties by 
household income level. 
 
The City’s allocated RHNA share for the 2013-2021 Housing Element cycle is as 
follows: 

 
Household Income Level      No. of Units 
 
Extremely & Very Low  31 
Low Level    19 
Moderate    20  
Above Moderate   45_ 
Total     115 
 

As shown in APR Table B, and including the eight (8) issued building permits reported 
for 2019 and shown in Table A-2, the City has exceeded its minimum RHNA share of 
“above moderate” household income level units for the current Housing Element cycle, 
with 45 minimum units having been allocated, and 76 units provided for to date. The 
City is currently deficient in meeting its RHNA share of lower income housing unit 
development. However, new housing development projects consisting of more than 
10 units are subject to the City’s Inclusionary Housing Ordinance requirements that 
were updated in 2018, with at least seven (7) percent of the units to be designated for 
extremely low/very low household income levels, four (4) percent designated for low 
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household income levels, and four (4) percent designated for moderate housing 
income levels.  
 
Table C - Sites that were identified or rezoned in 2019 to accommodate a shortfall of 
housing needs are required to be reported in this table. The properties included in the 
Housing Element residential sites inventory remains acceptable by HCD for this 
Housing Element cycle, and there were no new or alternate housing sites identified or 
rezoned to report for 2019. The City’s recent purchase of property at the southwest 
corner of Driver Avenue and Colodny Drive will be evaluated for potential reporting 
purposes next year. 

 
Table D - The implementation status of the City’s Housing Element programs are 
reported in this table. As noted in the APR, many of the implementation measures of 
the Housing Element are ongoing, and some will need to be completed this coming 
year to meet the goals outlined in the Housing Element. Staff will prepare a zoning 
ordinance amendment to the Density Bonus Ordinance, for compliance with State law, 
with the goal of having this ordinance considered by the Planning Commission and 
City Council in 2020. In addition, staff will prepare an update to the Accessory Dwelling 
Unit Ordinance in 2020, for compliance with State law.   
 
Table E -  Housing units that were approved as part of a commercial density bonus 
agreement for partnered affordable housing are required to be reported in this table. 
There are no such housing units to report for 2019. 
 
Table F - This optionable table is to include housing units that were rehabilitated, 
preserved or acquired for alternative adequate sites. There are no such housing units 
to report for 2019. 
 
Table G – This table is to include locally owned property that were included in the 
Housing Element Sites Inventory that have been sold, leased, or otherwise disposed 
of. There are no such properties to report for 2019. 
 
Summary Page - This summary page includes three tables. The “Entitled Units 
Summary” table includes the total number of housing units that received building 
permits or were completed for occupancy in 2019, as reported in Table A-2. The 
“Submitted Applications Summary” table is to include the number of housing units that 
were both submitted and completed in 2019. As noted in Table A, there were such no 
units to report. The “Use of SB 35 Streamlining Provisions” is to include all projects 
reported in Table A-2 for which the required streamlining review provisions of SB 35 
were requested. No project reported in Table A-2 included this provision. 
 

In 2019, several other housing projects were in various phases of construction, in post-
entitlement, or in the application review process, but are not reported for the 2019 APR. 
Four (4) single-family residential projects, and one (1) accessory dwelling unit project, 
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remained under construction in 2019 and each will be included in a future APR when it is 
completed for occupancy. In addition, three (3) separate projects in the Agoura Village 
Specific Plan area are currently being reviewed by staff and, combined, include 199 total 
proposed multi-family housing units. These projects have not been entitled. 
 
Upon authorization of the City Council, staff will forward the 2019 General Plan Housing 
Element Annual Progress Report to HCD and OPR. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
Staff recommends the City Council authorize staff to forward the 2019 General Plan 
Housing Element Annual Progress Report to the California Department of Housing and 
Community Development and the Governor’s Office of Planning and Research.  
 
Attachment: 2019 General Plan Housing Element Annual Progress Report  
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